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MEMBERSHIP
The first of many attempts to establish the right relationship with those who attend the Chapel but who for one reason or another cannot or do not join as full members, is recorded in 1879.  ‘It was agreed to draw up a supplementary list off persons who are members of the Congregation but not members of the Church.’

In those days, applications for membership were brought to the whole congregation, with a recommendation from the elders. During the writer’s time in Charlotte Chapel (that is, since 1961), this has been the ‘delegated responsibility’ of the Elders, and successive ministers have defended the practice.  Only recently have the names of those to be admitted appeared in the weekly Bulletin, and then only on the day of admission; an even more recent innovation, from the early 2000s, has been to invite new members onto the platform, where their faces can be seen by the congregation. Prior to that, all that the congregation saw was the backs of the new members as they stood up to be welcomed at the beginning of the monthly communion service.

1856–1858. Eight of the transfers were from nearby Edinburgh Baptist churches – three from Elder Street, six from Richmond Street and one from Bristo Street. Christopher Anderson would not have approved, and at a later date the Chapel Elders applied a nine month ‘lying on the table’ rule for any such applications for membership (later, and now, six months), to discourage people moving without careful consideration between churches within the city.

This from Chapter 8

As well as recommending the appointment of elders, Owen Campbell’s committee suggested, and the congregation approved, that a Ladies Visiting Committee should be formed, primarily ‘for the visitation of sick Female Members but that it should be competent for the Pastor and Elders to appoint one or more of the proposed Committee to visit female Candidates for Church Membership and to report thereon in writing to the Pastor, such written Report or Reports to be submitted to the Church as part of the evidence that the Candidates are or are not, fit and proper persons to be received into Fellowship.’ This is the first indication that personal details of applicants for membership were brought to a church meeting, and since it is not described as an innovation, it seems that it was the existing practice. It is still the practice in many Baptist churches today, and how and when the Chapel delegated this to the elders acting alone is set out later in this section.. 

It was, however, laid down in 1877 that all applications for membership or for baptism were to come to the elders before interview and then back to the elders after interview, before going to the church. The Minute Book reveals that while the interviews were not as rigorous or demanding as the membership interviews of the Scotch Baptists, great care was taken. In an application by ‘a young man engaged to Miss x, it was decided to make enquiries about his character before proposing him as a candidate for baptism - after enquiries had been made he was proposed for interview, but the visitors appointed, Messrs y and z, were not satisfied and the application was stopped’. 

Even after the elders were satisfied, the congregation had an important part to play. In the case of applications for baptism and membership (the two usually went together), no decision was made when the information was first laid before the members. In every instance in the very full Minutes of Church Meetings extant from 1891 to 1896, the interviewing pair (two Elders or one Elder and a member of the Ladies Visiting Committee) reported fully to the church one Sunday and the vote was taken on the following Sunday. If, however, the application was to receive a member by transfer from another Baptist church, the vote was wrongly taken immediately after the letter of transfer from the other church was read to the meeting.

In March 1891, the interviewing elders reported favourably on an application for membership by ‘a lad of fourteen years of age and 15 years of age in June’. After lying for a week, the application was unanimously received.

This from main text 

A Church Meeting on 30 June 1895 removed twenty-six names. Reasons ranged from joining other Churches – Brethren, Presbyterian, Episcopal – to non-attendance, lost touch or disciplinary action. The most curious reason was given for two separate men, who had been transferred to the Chapel from their home Churches, and whose transfer had been approved by the Chapel Church Meeting, but who ‘never came forward to receive the right hand of fellowship after transfer received.’

When Graham Scroggie started in 1916, the elders recommended (or otherwise) to the church the names of those whom they had considered, and the decision lay with the members of the congregation.

Membership

Figures at April 1906 –in Handbook. Names and addresses in 1908 are in a separate section on the CD entitled ‘Membership 1908.

Figures at December 1906, for the calendar year 1906, in Record 1907 p. 3.

Additions :-

By Baptism

96

Transfer

31

Deputation

13


140

Deductions

Death
2

Transfer
18


Revision
   6
26
Net increase for the year

114
The total membership of the Church is now

594

ANNUAL REPORT FOR 1906. – Record 1907, p. 54

The statistics for the year are as follows

Additions :-

By Baptism

100

Transfer

30

Deputation

18


148

Deductions

Death
3

Transfer
19


Revision
6
28
Net increase for the year

120
The total membership of the Church is now

609 

The statistics for the year ending December 31, 1907 are as follows

Additions.-

By baptism
58

By transfer
23

By deputation
12


-
93

Deductions

By death
5

By transfer
22

By revision
17

By resignation
4


-
48

Net increase for the year

45

The total membership of the church is now 632. (Record 1908, p.   )

Annual purging of the Roll at AGM on Monday 17 February 1908: ‘Some grave cases of disorder are to be dealt with … absentees from whom we have received no word for a considerable time will have their names brought before the church for deletion.’ (Record, 1908, p. 16.) Result – 24 names removed, many had left and could not be traced. (Same Record, p. 43.)

It was not really ‘annual’, because it was repeated at the half-yearly meeting on Thursday 17 June – ‘it was again our sorrowful business to erase several names from the Church roll for walking disorderly and others for non-attendance’. (Record 1908, p. 90.)

ANNUAL REPORT FOR 1908 - A Year’s Work at Charlotte Chapel. By the Secretary.

Membership.  Although deprived of the Pastor’s strenuous leadership for over three months, and sadly restricted by the insufficient condition of our existing accommodation, we have to report, not a decrease in our total membership as we might have expected, but a nett increase of 15, and that too, after a drastic revision of the Church Roll.  Last year the membership amounted to 632: and in the year just closed it amounts to 647.  The details are as follows: - Additions - Baptism, 46; Transfer, 25. Deputation, 5 - Total 76. Removals - Transfer, 27; Revision, 27 : Resignation, 3; Death, 4 - Total 61.  Nett increase for the year is 15, and the total present membership 647. (Record 1909, p. 50)

An accurate Roll was one of Joseph Kemp’s priorities. He held a special meeting of the Church on Monday, 25 October 1909, for the purpose of purging the Church Roll.  Twenty-six names were removed. Explaining this to the readers of the Record, he reminded them that according to the constitution of the Church, ‘ absence from the Lord’s Table without a valid reason for a period of six months is looked upon as an act of withdrawal from the fellowship-of the Church, and will be treated as such.  Members removing to another town can have their names retained on the roll if they occasionally communicate with the Church; failing this and no transfer is applied for, the name will be removed from the roll after an absence of twelve months.’ He went on to comment that ‘while this decrease in our Church membership may awaken for some considerable concern and misgiving, it must not be looked upon as actual retrogression.  Diminished numbers may be no real loss.  The Church is a fighting force, and the removal or withdrawal of the unfit may contribute more to the efficiency of the Church for the purpose for which it exists.  May God make all our members truly spiritual and aflame with zeal for Himself, and our restricted numbers may thus accomplish more than a great membership in which spiritual apathy reigns.’ (Record 1909, p. 177)

Annual Report for 1909 – The Year’s Work at Charlotte Chapel.

For the first time during the last eight years there is a decrease.  For the year there have been received into fellowship by baptism, 43; by trans​fer, 27; by deputation, 11, making a total of 81.  Against this there have been removals - by transfer, 22; by revision 49; by resignation 9; commanded to Presbyterian churches 7; by death 7; making a total of 94, thus leaving a net decrease for the year of 13; the present membership standing at 634. In this report there is nothing to discourage but much to cheer.  The members removed by revision are not an actual loss to our membership for practically many have been from us for some considerable time and are now formally removed from the roll.  The figure includes those who have gone to the United States and Canada, and who have not sought transfers to any church in their new country.  Others who have settled in places where there is no Baptist Church. Others have been caught by new movements, which in the very nature of things are bound to bring harm to spiritual life. (Record 1910, p. 34)

Annual Report for 1910  - A Year’s Work at Charlotte Chapel. 

Membership, at last Annual Meeting, 629. Additions: By Baptism, 44.  By Transfer, 18. By Deputation, 8. = 70. Removals: By Transfer, 21, By Revision, 7. By Resignation, 6. By Death, 7. =  41. Gain, 29.  Present Membership, 658.  It is interesting to note that of the 44 baptised during the year 26 were converted in Charlotte Chapel. Net gain of 29 to the total membership, and that, too, after a very strict annual purging of our Church Roll. The total membership, as I have said, is 658.  When the Pastor came to the Church nine years ago the membership was about 100.  It is now 658 - an increase in the period of over 550!

(Record 1911, p. 35)

Annual Report for 1911 (Record 1912, p. 52)

At our last Annual Meeting (Spring 1911) the number of members on the Roll was 




659.

Additions - 
By Baptism,
69

Transfer,
11

Deputation,
7 =  87

Removals - 
By Transfer,

29

      Revision,

21

      Resignation,
  2

      Death,

  7 =  59

Nett Increase, 28.
 Present Membership, 687

-------------

Annual Report for 1913, by the Church Secretary, Record 1914, pages 36.

The statistics for the year -

Additions-

By
Baptism,
76


Transfer,
28


Deputation,
14

Removals-
By
Transfer,
19


Revision,
11


Resignation
,5


Death
 4



39

Nett increase for the year,79

Total Membership, 784.

During the year 170 have professed conversion, 43 of whom have united with the Church.

While dealing with statistics, it might interest you if I were to give you the numbers received into Church fellowship during Mr. Kemp’s twelve years amongst us.

During these twelve years, there have been received

By Baptism,
750

Transfer
282

Deputation
116








1148

------------

Junior Membership

The business meeting in June 1914 decided that, for the first time in the history of the Chapel, there should be a Junior Membership Roll, for those under seventeen.  While enjoying every privilege of Church membership, they were not to attend the ordinary business meetings of the Church.  On reaching the age of seventeen, they automatically transferred to full membership.  (Record 1914, p. 114)

1914 raised another aspect of membership, which the writer had not noted previously although it may have existed without reference in the documentation.  A couple who had emigrated to Alberta in Canada, and who were far removed from a Baptist Church, wished to retain their membership in the Chapel. Joseph Kemp noted in the Record that the Chapel gladly complied with this request.  Record, 1914, p. 161.

Thorough purging of Roll at Annual Business Meeting in February 1915, so that figures given in the annual return represent the actual working membership. Record 1915, p. 33

Interview and reception

Graham Scroggie asked the elders, as soon as he arrived in the autumn of 1916, to change the method of interview and reception. He wished an elder to be present with himself in the vestry while candidates were interviewed, instead of delegating to two elders or two sisters to interview and report. Next, he would bring all the names together on one Sunday, saying they had the recommendation of the Elders’ Court, that if there was no objection to them he would bring a brief report on them on the following Sunday, and that they would be received at the Communion Service on the third Sunday. This was approved. Elders’ Minute, 23 October 1916. At the same meeting, the pastor proposed preparing a doctrinal statement, in accordance with the Constitution of the church, to be given to applicants for membership.

In 1950 (probably earlier) two elders interviewed any applicant about whom questions had been raised. This was done when someone applied who was already in membership of another church in Edinburgh, to explain the rule about leaving such applications to lie on the table for six months. Elders’ Minute, 29 March 1950.

Peter Grainger’s first members’ meeting – December 1992

Membership Interviews and Format. 

Elder Angus Ferguson outlined the present procedures and suggested ​minor improvements. [details of the scheme below] There would now be an Open Meeting, after the evening Service, at which the Pastor and others would outline the implications of Membership. There would be no commitment. Application forms would be made available in addition to those generally available in the literature racks. Applicants would be required to borrow, and encouraged to purchase, the booklet Evangelical Belief, which explained the Doctrinal Basis on the application form. Applications would then come to the Court, as at present, but greater time would be given for the interview (half an hour as the norm) and where a lady was being interviewed, either the Deaconess or the wife of an Elder would be present. The final improvement would be to give every successful applicant a copy of the form, which they had completed, as a reminder of the commitment made.

1992

As soon as Peter Grainger came to Edinburgh in August 1992, he recommended, and the elders approved, a much more rigorous procedure for applications for membership. The following was agreed in November 1992:​

(i) The first stage of application would be attendance at an open meeting after church on Sundays (monthly or bi-monthly as the need arose). People interested in membership would be invited to attend with no commitment on either side. The meeting would be led by the Membership Elder and Pastor, with the Deaconess and/or an Elder’s wife in attendance. It would cover a brief history of the Chapel, its practice and procedures, and what membership entails. It would be informal (with coffee) and would allow for questions.

(ii) Application forms for membership would be offered at the conclusion of the "Introduction to Membership" evening for those who wished to consider seriously application for membership. Although forms would still be available in the racks for information purposes, attendance at one of the "Introduction to Membership" evenings would be an essential first step in the application process.

(iii) Applicants would be required to acquire and read the small UCCF booklet which explains the Doctrinal Statement, before any interview. Any questions or clarification could then be raised at the interview.

(iv) Applications would be brought to the Elders’ Court for comment.

(v) Interviews would be scheduled for a minimum of 30 minutes each and would be conducted by two/three Elders or, in the case of female applicants, by two Elders plus the Deaconess or an Elder’s wife.

(vi) Applicants to be informed in writing and successful applicants to be welcomed formally into membership t the next communion service.

(vii) Application forms to be revised, and accepted members .to retain a copy for future reference, as a reminder of the Doctrinal statement assented to, and the responsibilities accepted in becoming a member.

Associate Membership

The criteria for acceptance as an associate member were reviews by the elders on 2 February 1994. It was accepted that the criteria had changed over the years. It was agreed that associate membership was open to all those temporarily in Edinburgh who satisfied the conditions of membership, with the possible exception of believers’ baptism, who wished to be involved in and receive pastoral care from the Chapel but who nevertheless wished to maintain their membership at their home church, of whatever denomination. Associate membership was also available to those permanently in Edinburgh, who could satisfy all the conditions of membership except believers’ baptism by immersion. Applicants in the latter category who had serious doctrinal problems with believers’ baptism as practised in the Chapel were to be encouraged to worship in a congregation more nearly reflecting their position. Nevertheless applicants who maintained their desire for associate membership should not be disqualified by reason solely of doctrinal difference on the matter of baptism so long as they did not seek to undermine the Chapel’s position by word or action. Applicants for associate membership should have a membership period available of at least 6 months. Associate members would be able to attend but not vote at business meetings or take part in office bearer elections.

It had become apparent that there were those, e.g. post-graduate students, for whom even associate membership was not appropriate because of the length of time necessary to process applications. It was agreed that it was desirable that we should be able to make use of the gifts and abilities of such persons for the short while that they were in Edinburgh. It was agreed that an acceptable form of ‘association’ with the Chapel would be considered for such people.

At his membership information meeting, Peter Grainger explained, among other things, that the Chapel’s theological position was to be united on essentials, and beyond that to agree to disagree.  In practical terms, he went over the UCCF doctrinal basis, and asked whether there was anything else which, the enquirers thought, without which a person would not be an adequate Christian.  If they raised any particular issue, which he regarded as secondary – such as speaking in tongues, or ladies not praying in public, he would suggest that the applicant should join with another fellowship, where they would feel at home. He stressed that if the person regarded this as an essential of the faith, it would simply cause division and misunderstanding in the Chapel.

He did not minimise that these were important aspects of Christian living, but he put them into the category of ‘secondary’, on which one could not insist for an adequate Christian life.

In the 1980’s and 1990’s, there were those who said that a second experience of the Spirit, subject to conversion, was something for which a Christian could strive.  Peter Grainger had no problems with style – for example the raising of hands – but would not allow such areas to become an issue and so divisive.

The primary thrust of his ministry was to reach the lost. If someone insisted on an experience, subsequent to conversion, and that this must follow, then the person would not settle in this fellowship.

He stressed the importance of seeing what was secondary as secondary, and as allowing freedom to differ on convictions, provided everything was under the authority of Scripture.  He held that miraculous gifts were not normally displayed and that he would not preach physical healing at a meeting or speaking in tongues. In other words, one should not major on debatable areas.

�  Charlotte Chapel. Church Minute Book, 1891 – ‘, (In Chapel archives under 1891)


�  Charlotte Chapel. Church Minute Book, 1891 – ‘, p.3. (In Chapel archives under 1891)


�  Charlotte Chapel. Church Minute Book, 1891 – ‘, p.21. (In Chapel archives under 1891). On Church Meetings generally, see ‘Church Meetings’ on the CD.


�  Elders’ Minute, 17 November 1917.


� This is the total at the date of the meeting, not the total at 31 December 1906, which was 594. There was a net gain of 10 in January and 5 more in February - details in Record for 1907.





